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\\\\ IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT Y
Q\% FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS -
Q ~ DALLAS DIVISION ! - v
| AP 16700
* L SPRE AR SRS
TIMOTHY JAMES CARLSON, * By TV s
* Lhoey
Plaintiff, *
*
V. * Civil No. 3:02-CV-2654-H
*
TRANS UNION, LLC, EXPERIAN *
INFORMATION SOLUTIONS, INC., *
CSC CREDIT SERVICES, INC., *
EQUIFAX INFORMATION SERVICES, LLC, *
VERIZON WIRELESS, and RISK *
MANAGEMENT ALTERNATIVES, INC. *
Defendants. *
*

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Before the Court are Defendant Verizon Wireless’s Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to

Dismiss, filed February 14, 2003, and Plaintiff’s Response, filed February 24, 2003. Verizon did
not file a Reply.
I. Background

Plaintiff brings this lawsuit against Defendants based upon false credit reports and illegal
collection activities. In May of 2001, Plaintiff viewed a copy of his consumer credit report while
attempting to obtain a mortgage. Compl. at 3. That credit report included trade lines from Verizon
Wireless (“Verizon) which Plaintiff alleges were false. Compl. at 3. Plaintiff contacted Verizon
to have the false trade lines removed. Id. Verizon representatives advised Plaintiff that Verizon’s
account system had no account bearing Plaintiff’s name or social security number, and did not
contain the false Verizon account numbers. Id. at 4. Verizon’s representative advised Plaintiff to

contact Defendant TransUnion, LLC (“TransUnion”) to dispute the trades. Id. Plaintiff did so, but



later received a post-reinvestigation credit report still containing false information. /d. Plaintiff
has never held an account with Verizon. Compl. at 5. TransUnion told Verizon of the disputes
and Verizon stated that the trade lines had to remain on Plaintiff’s credit report. Compl. at 5.
Plaintiff spoke to several Verizon employees in an attempt to resolve the false trade lines. Id. at 6.
Plaintiff completed a “Fraud Affidavit” and returned it to Verizon in an attempt to have the false
trade lines removed. Id. At this point, Plaintiff began to receive collection demands from Risk
Management Alternatives, Inc. (“RMA”). Id. Plaintiff was then told that investigations at Verizon
had uncovered a corporate check from Plaintiff’s former employer, Paragon Computers, Inc.
(“Paragon”), on the allegedly fraudulent accounts containing Plaintiff’s name. Plaintiff was
informed that Verizon was of the opinion that he was liable on the debts. Compl. at 7. Plaintiff
has not signed a personal guarantee for the debts of Paragon. I/d. Plaintiff was routinely denied
credit and mortgages on the basis of his inaccurate credit report over the period of time between
May 2001 and October 2002 despite continued efforts on his part to have the credit report
corrected, both through contacts with Verizon and the various credit reporting agencies that are
parties to this lawsuit.

Plaintiff brought this claim against the Defendants December 12, 2002. See Compl.
Plaintiff alleges that Verizon is a “user” of credit information and a “furnisher” of credit
information as discussed in the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”). Plaintiff brings suit because
Verizon failed to correct the erroneous trade lines in his consumer credit report after they had been
brought to Verizon’s attention. Plaintiff sues Defendant Verizon for negligence, defamation, and
violation of § 1681s-2(b) of the FCRA.

Defendant Verizon brings this Motion to Dismiss under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure

12(b)(6). Defendant Verizon asserts that Plaintiff’s claim under the FCRA is barred because he
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lacks a private cause of action against a furnisher of information. Furthermore, to the extent that
Verizon might have owed a duty to Plaintiff in this situation, Verizon argues that Plaintiff has
failed to set forth the factual prerequisites to bringing a claim under § 1681s-2[b]. Verizon also
argues that Plaintiff’s state-law claims are barred. Verizon claims that Plaintiff’s claims are barred
by preemption or by the statute of limitations. Plaintiff disputes Verizon’s assertions.
IL. Analysis

A. Federal Claims

L Private Causes of Action under § 1681s-2(b) of the FCRA

Defendant Verizon asserts that Plaintiff has failed to state a claim upon which relief may be
granted because there is no private cause of action under § 1681s-2(b). The Fifth Circuit has
expressly declined to reach this issue. Young v. Equifax Credit Info. Servs., 294 F.3d 631, 639 (5th
Cir. 2002). However, the Ninth Circuit provides a detailed analysis of the issue in Nelson v. Chase
Manhattan Mortgage Corp. 282 F.3d 1057 (9th Cir. 2002). After a detailed analysis of the
interrelationship between various portions of the FCRA, as well as an exploration of legislative
history, the Ninth Circuit concludes that there is a private cause of action under § 1681s-2(b). This
Court agrees. The FCRA provides for private causes of action under § 1681n and 16810. While
there is no private right of action under § 1681s-2(a), as is indicated in § 1681s-2(c) and (d), there
is no such limitation on § 1681s-2(b). 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2 (2003). Plaintiff’s claims under §
1681s-2(b) may not be dismissed on this basis. Defendant Verizon’s Motion to Dismiss on the
ground that there is no private cause of action under § 1681s-2(b) is DENIED.

2. Degree of Specificity Required in Complaints
Verizon further argues that Plaintiff failed to include statements of fact in his complaint

adequate to prove necessary elements of a claim under § 1681s-2(b) of the FCRA. Verizon argues
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